FILED
05-03-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP1734

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

CRAIG R. THATCHER,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE AND DISMISSING CASE, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ST. CROIX COUNTY, THE HONORABLE SCOTT NEEDHAM, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

KARL ANDERSON St. Croix County District Attorney State Bar No. 1103435

MICHELLE BREKKEN Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1121345

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 2 of 26

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court erroneously grant Thatcher's motion to suppress evidence of his chemical breath test?

The circuit court held that Thatcher's breath test should be suppressed.

This Court should reverse because Trooper Wood provided a sufficient warning to Thatcher. Moreover, in reaching its conclusion, the trial court erroneously applied *Quelle*. Instead, a Fourth Amendment examination of the voluntariness of Thatcher's consent should have been implemented. Under the Fourth Amendment, Thatcher freely and voluntarily consented to provide an evidentiary sample of his breath.

2. Did the circuit court erroneously suppress Thatcher's secondary blood test?

The trial court held that Thatcher's secondary blood test must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree.

This Court should reverse because Thatcher's initial breath test was not coerced. Additionally, even if this Court determines that the breath test was coerced, there was sufficient attenuation to purge the taint of the coercive comments before the blood test was requested by Thatcher.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. Publication is precluded by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)(4) as this appeal shall be decided by one judge.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 2, 2019, Wisconsin State Trooper Damien Wood responded to a driving complaint of a black Cadillac SUV described as being "all over the road deviating lanes." (R. 59, 151:1–5.) After

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 7 of 26

observing a black Cadillac SUV display the same driving conduct described in the complaint, Trooper Wood initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle. (*Id.* at 151:16–21.) Trooper Wood identified the driver of the vehicle as Craig Thatcher. Upon further investigation, Trooper Wood placed Thatcher under arrest for Operating While Intoxicated ("OWI"). (*Id.* at 152:6–9.¹) After placing Thatcher under arrest for OWI, Trooper Wood made the following statement to him:

Okay, so just gotta [sic] do some paperwork here. So this is a first offense. It is not a crime. Traffic forfeiture, like a bad speeding ticket that nobody wants. So, what is going to happen is I have got to issue a couple citations here. I have to read you a form and depending on how all that goes, you should be able to just go to the jail and you will be able to get out tonight with a sober driver. So, sound like a plan?

(R. 18, 105.)

Approximately six minutes later, Trooper Wood read Thatcher the Department of Transportation's advisory titled Informing the Accused ("ITA Form") which contains the notice required to be provided under Wisconsin's Implied Consent law, specifically Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). (R. 18, 106; R. 19, 108.) The following exchange occurred between Trooper Wood and Thatcher after Trooper Wood read Thatcher his rights in accordance with statute:

Thatcher: I have a commercial driver's license

Trooper Wood: Okay

Thatcher: So what did you mean by that?

Trooper Wood: Did you understand what the form said?

Thatcher: yeah, I understand

-

¹ The facts leading up to Thatcher's arrest were not solicited for the record because counsel for Thatcher confirmed he was not challenging the basis of the stop or probable cause for the arrest. (R. 59, 148:8-18.)

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 8 of 26

Trooper Wood: Cause' I can't interpret what this says. I can read

what this says exactly. I can't summarize what it means, because it can change certain meanings and I don't want you to be confused by certain things. So if you would like I can read you the

whole thing again.

Thatcher: No, no I -

Trooper Wood: Do you want me to read that part again?

Thatcher: Please

(R. 18:106.) Trooper Wood then reread paragraph four of the ITA Form pertaining to a commercial driver's license. (R. 18:106–07; R. 19.) Thatcher indicated he understood the form and consented to providing a chemical test of his breath. (R. 18:106–107.) Thatcher did not ask any other questions about the ITA Form after Trooper Wood reread paragraph four of the ITA Form a second time. (*Id.*) Trooper Wood then collected an evidentiary sample of Thatcher's breath.

Thatcher also requested an secondary chemical test of his blood. Trooper Wood complied with Thatcher's request for a secondary test and transported Thatcher to Hudson Hospital to collect a sample of Thatcher's blood.² Subsequently, Trooper Wood issued Thatcher citations for Operating While Under the Influence, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-First Offense, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b).

On March 13, 2020, Thatcher, through counsel, filed a motion and accompanying affidavit, seeking to suppress the State's use of "all direct and derivative evidence of Trooper D. Wood's . . . improper influence on Mr. Thatcher's decision regarding chemical testing"
(R. 8:100.) Specifically, Thatcher asserted that Trooper Wood's

٠

² The record does not reflect that Thatcher requested a secondary test of his blood because the issue of suppression was brought to light after the circuit court suppressed the primary breath test. However, the State concedes Thatcher did in fact request a secondary sample of his blood.

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 9 of 26

comment that an OWI first offense is similar to a "bad speeding ticket that nobody wants" was misleading and affected his ability to make a choice about submitting to a chemical test. *Id.* at 101–02.

A motion hearing was held before the Honorable Scott R. Needham on July 13, 2020. (R. 59, 146.) After submissions of briefs, the circuit court entered a Decision and Order dated September 22, 2020 granting Thatcher's Motion to Suppress the breath test concluding the State chose to abandon its prior challenge to Thatcher's motion based upon the submission of a blank brief and declined to develop the State's argument. (R. 22, 123–24.) The State promptly filed a correspondence advising of the inadvertent submission of the wrong brief due to a technical error, along with the correct brief and requested the Court to reconsider its order accounting for the State's argument. (R. 25, 133; R. 23, 125–32.) The circuit court issued a Decision and Order dated October 1, 2020 denying the State's motion for reconsideration and affirmed its previous Decision and Order on September 22, 2020. (R. 30, 137–38.) In denying the State's motion, the circuit court simply stated, the "answer to all three questions is 'yes'" in reference to Quelle. (R. 30, 138.)

Following the circuit court's Decision and Order on October 1, 2020, Thatcher filed a correspondence requesting the court to also suppress evidence of Thatcher's secondary blood test based upon the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. (R. 28, 135–36.) Thatcher filed an additional correspondence requesting dismissal of the charge of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. (R. 31, 139.) Over the State's objection, the circuit court issued a third Decision and Order dated October 9, 2020 suppressing Thatcher's secondary blood test results, finding the test results were fruit of the poisonous tree and "immaterial." (R. 32, 140-41; R. 37:144.) The circuit court subsequently issued an Order dismissing the citation for Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. (R. 38, 145.)

The State appeals.

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 10 of 26

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[R]eview of an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Blackman*, 2017 WI 77, ¶ 25, 377 Wis. 2d 339, 350, 898 N.W.2d 774, 780 (citing *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120). A question of constitutional fact is reviewed under a two-step inquiry. *Blackman*, 377 Wis. 2d at 780. First, the circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless those findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, the appellate court conducts an independent, de novo analysis of the application of constitutional principles to the facts found. *Id.* (citing *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463). Additionally, the interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law that appellate courts decide independently of the circuit court. *Blackman*, 377 Wis. 2d at 780.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THATCHER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OF HIS CHEMICAL BREATH TEST.

Pursuant to Wisconsin's implied consent statute, a person arrested for operating while intoxicated must be advised of the statutorily prescribed penalties if a chemical test is requested by law enforcement. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). Specifically, "at the time that a chemical test specimen is requested . . . the law enforcement officer shall read the following to the person from whom the test specimen is requested:"

You have either been arrested for an offense that involves driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both, or you are the operator of a vehicle that was involved in an accident that caused the death of, great bodily harm to, or substantial bodily harm to a person, or you are suspected of driving or being on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle after consuming an intoxicating beverage.

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 11 of 26

This law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system. If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, your operating privilege will be suspended. If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court.

If you take all the requested tests, you may choose to take further tests. You may take the alternative test that this law enforcement agency provides free of charge. You also may have a test conducted by a qualified person of your choice at your expense. You, however, will have to make your own arrangements for that test.

If you have a commercial driver license or were operating a commercial motor vehicle, other consequences may result from positive test results or from refusing testing, such as being placed out of service or disqualified.

Id.

In order to determine whether a law enforcement officer's warning under the implied consent law was adequate, the court must utilize a stringent three part test: (1) whether the law enforcement officer has not met, or exceeded their duty to provide information to the accused driver under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and § 343.305(4m);³ (2) whether the lack of or oversupply of information is misleading; and (3) whether the failure to properly inform the driver affected their ability to make the choice about chemical testing. *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196, 200 (Ct. App. 1995), *abrogated on other grounds by In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243.

A. Trooper Wood properly satisfied his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4).

"A [law enforcement] officer's only duty under the implied consent law is to accurately deliver the information to the driver . . ." as required by Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4); *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 285. An

.

³ Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4m) addressed drivers who possess a commercial motor vehicle license. The subdivision was removed from the statute in 1997 and incorporated into the language contained in § 343.305(4).

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 12 of 26

officer need not explain all the choices and possible consequences embodied within the statute. *Id*.

Trooper Wood read the ITA Form verbatim to Thatcher. (R. 18, 106; R. 19, 108.) The ITA Form, promulgated by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation, incorporates the language in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4)⁴ that the legislature requires a law enforcement officer to read when the officer requests that a driver submit to chemical testing. (R. 19, 108.) After Trooper Wood read the ITA Form in its entirety, Thatcher commented that he had a commercial driver's license. (R. 18:106.) Trooper Wood then asked if Thatcher understood what the form said, at which point Thatcher confirmed he did in fact understand. *Id.* Thereafter, Trooper Wood stated he was unable to "interpret what [the ITA Form] says . . . [and] can't summarize what it means, because ... I don't want you to be confused ..." (Id.) By way of reading the ITA Form in its entirety and Trooper Wood's remarks that he is unable to explain the form to avoid any confusion, Trooper Wood has complied with his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and no oversupply of information was provided to Thatcher. Rather, Trooper Wood properly advised Thatcher he was unable to explain the form. (Id.)

Thatcher however, claimed in his motion, that Trooper Wood's comment made prior to reading the ITA Form constituted an oversupply of information. (R. 8, 101 ¶ 4.) Specifically, Trooper Wood stated the following approximately 6 minutes prior to reading the ITA Form: "So this is a first offense. It is not a crime. Traffic forfeiture, like a bad speeding ticket that nobody wants." (R. 18, 105.)

-

⁴ The ITA Form read by Trooper Wood also included the following additional text that is not encompassed in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4): "In addition, your operating privileges will also be suspended if a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance is in your blood." This statement appears to add clarity that operating privileges are also subject to penalty for use of a controlled substance in addition to alcohol. The additional language was not challenged by Thatcher in the circuit court, nor was there any evidence Thatcher consumed any controlled substances.

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 13 of 26

The State contends that the three-prong *Quelle* test is wholly inapplicable as the cases relied upon by Thatcher are distinguishable in that the oversupply of information was contemporaneous to the disclosure of the rights under Wisconsin's Implied Consent law. (R. 8, 100; R. 21, 111); *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 274 (law enforcement officer attempted to explain the form to defendant in response to questioning); *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 875, 569 N.W.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997) (officer exceeded his duty and attempted to explain the form to defendant in "layman's terms."); *In re Smith*, 308 Wis. 2d at 84 (after reading the form, defendant expressed concern regarding the possible penalties and the deputy made statements regarding the licensure revocation period and ability to have a hearing within a certain period of time).

In the case before the Court, Trooper Wood's comment was not made contemporaneously to informing Thatcher of his rights or as a means of explanation for the content contained in the ITA Form, but rather a remark made six minutes prior to administering the ITA Form. Trooper Wood's commentary made prior to reading the ITA Form was not made in conjunction with his duty to advise Thatcher of Wisconsin's Implied Consent law pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and did not exceed his duty in the manner *Quelle* sought to protect.

Furthermore, it cannot reasonably be inferred that *Quelle* was intended to apply to all statements made by law enforcement prior to administering the advisory. Such an expansive application would curdle the efforts of law enforcement if any statement made prior to administering the ITA Form was subject to scrutiny under *Quelle*. The purpose of the statute is to advise divers suspected of operating while intoxicated of their rights under Wisconsin law. *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 279 ("... the implied consent warnings are designed to inform drivers of the rights and penalties applicable to them.") The record unequivocally reflects that Trooper Wood satisfied his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) by reading the ITA Form verbatim and refraining

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 14 of 26

from explaining the form by explicitly stating he could not summarize what the form means. (R. 18, 106.) Because Trooper Wood did not exceed his statutory duty, *Quelle* is inapplicable and the Court need only determine whether Trooper Wood's statement rendered Thatcher's consent to submit to an evidentiary breath test as involuntary. The State, however, will provide arguments regarding the remaining *Quelle* analysis should the Court find Trooper Wood exceeded his statutory duty.

B. Trooper Wood did not provide any erroneous or misleading information to Thatcher.

If the Court finds there was an oversupply of information, the court shall then consider whether the oversupply of information was misleading. *Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d at 875. The Court in *Ludwigson* clarified that the term "misleading" under the second prong of the *Quelle* test is meant to be synonymous with "erroneous." *Id.* (citing *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 282).

Here, after placing Thatcher under arrest for OWI, Trooper Wood told Thatcher that it was a "first offense. It is not a crime. Traffic forfeiture, like a bad speeding ticket that nobody wants." (R. 18, 105.) An OWI first offense in Wisconsin is a noncriminal forfeiture violation. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1); *State v. Albright*, 98 Wis. 2d 663, 673 298 N.W.2d 196, 202 (Ct. App. 1980) (stating a person's first violation of sec. 346.63(1) is not a criminal offense) *see also State v. Shulz*, 100 Wis. 2d 329, 331, 302 N.W.2d 59, 61 (Ct. App. 1981) (reasoning that the legislature removed the provision for a fine, eliminated the right to impose a prison term, and substituted a forfeiture provision, which reflected a legislative intent to establish a civil penalty).

In light of these decisions by the Wisconsin legislature and courts of appeals, it is apparent that Trooper Wood's statement to Thatcher was factually correct in the sense that an OWI first offense is not a crime. As stated in *Quelle*, an "officer's correct explanation of the

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 15 of 26

law...cannot be grounds for suppressing the test results." *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 283. Because Trooper Wood's remarks that an OWI first offense is a noncriminal traffic forfeiture is factually accurate under Wisconsin law, the statement cannot be considered erroneous.

Thatcher also argued to the circuit court was based upon Trooper Wood's "material omissions" when he . . .

told [Thatcher] that all he would face is a forfeiture or fine by pleading guilty⁵ when in actuality an individual who pleads guilty to an OWI-1st offense [sic] in Wisconsin is not only subject to monetary forfeiture . . . but also revocation of his or her license, disqualification of his or her commercial driver's license . . . as well as a costly and mandatory alcohol and other drug assessment.

(R. 21, 115–16.). Thatcher concluded that "[b]y material omission, Trooper Wood incorrectly informed Thatcher on the penalties he faced for his first offense in an attempt to get Thatcher to 'consent' to an evidentiary chemical test; therefore he provided definitionally [sic] misleading information." (R. 21, 116.) Thatcher's argument must fail as the record unequivocally establishes that Trooper Wood administered the ITA Form in its entirety – the content of which is identical to the language contained in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4).

In *Quelle*, the defendant asserted that her decision not to submit to a chemical test resulted from the officer's failure "to provide a reasonable explanation" . . . after expressing confusion about why she was asked about submitting to another breath test when she already submitted to a preliminary breath test roadside. *Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d at 284. The Court rejected *Quelle's* argument that an officer is under a duty to provide a reasonable explanation to a confused driver and emphasized that an officer only as a duty to provide the information on the form. *Id.* at 285–86. ("an officer's only duty under the implied consent law is to accurate deliver the information to the driver; an

⁵ Nothing in the record, nor the transcript drafted by Thatcher, by way of counsel, reflects that Trooper Wood stated to Thatcher that the only penalty he would face was a forfeiture or fine if he pleaded guilty.

-

Case 2020AP001734 Appellant's Brief Filed 05-03-2021 Page 16 of 26

officer need not explain all of the choices (and resulting consequences) embodied within these statutes.")

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