FILED 09-21-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CASE NO. 2020AP001734

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Case 2020AP001734

CRAIG R. THATCHER,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE AND DISMISSING CASE, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ST. CROIX COUNTY, CASE NOS. 19 TR 4944 AND 19 TR 4946, THE HONORABLE SCOTT NEEDHAM, PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT PAUL MAXEY State Bar No. 1112746

ADAM P. NERO State Bar No. 1097720

NELSON DEFENSE GROUP

811 First Street, Ste. 101 Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-2694 robert@nelsondefensegoup.com adam@nelsondefensegroup.com

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the circuit court's orders suppressing all direct and derivative evidence of Mr. Thatcher's evidentiary breath test and subsequent dismissal of the charge of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration for four reasons. First, by failing to address the issue in any manner, the State concedes that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in granting Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction for the prosecution's failure to reply. Second, the circuit court correctly granted Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress when it made factual findings and concluded that Trooper Wood exceeded his duty under sec. 343.305(4) such that the three-part test established in *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995), was satisfied. Third, the excessive misinformation provided by Trooper Wood, as well as the totality of the circumstances, deprived Mr. Thatcher of his ability to make a free and unconstrained decision about chemical testing, thus rendering any consent involuntary. Finally, because Wisconsin law only grants drivers the right to a secondary test under sec. 343.305(5)(a) when they have consented to the primary test, the circuit court properly suppressed Mr. Thatcher's secondary blood test as fruit of the poisonous tree following suppression of the primary test.

I. BY FAILING TO ADDRESS THE ISSUE IN ANY MANNER, THE STATE CONCEDES THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING MR. THATCHER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS AS A SANCTION FOR THE PROSECUTION'S FAILURE TO REPLY.

Failure to address the grounds on which the circuit court ruled constitutes a concession of the ruling's validity. *Sands v. Menard*, 2016 WI App 76, ¶ 52, 372 Wis. 2d 126, 887 N.W.2d 94. When an appellant refutes one ground and fails to refute an independent alternate ground, then the appellant has tacitly conceded, resulting in a confession as to the existence of the alternate ground. *Jarrett v. Lab. & Indus. Rev. Comm'n*, 2000 WI App 46, ¶ 18, 233 Wis. 2d 174, 607 N.W.2d 326. "[W]hen an appellant ignores the ground upon which the trial court ruled and raises issues on appeal that do not undertake to refute the trial court's ruling," this Court has held the appellant cannot complain if the ground is taken as confessed. *Schlieper v. DNR*, 188 Wis. 2d 318, 322, 525 N.W.2d 99 (Ct. App. 1994) (when appellant ignores grounds for circuit court's ruling and appellant's briefing does not refute the ruling, specially where those grounds are asserted by opponent, court of appeals views the matter as conceded).

Further, this Court "will not abandon [its] neutrality to develop arguments' for the parties." *Menard*, 2016 WI App 76 at ¶ 52 (citation omitted). Moreover, on appeal it is the appellant's burden to demonstrate that the circuit court erred. *Seltrecht v. Bremer*, 214 Wis. 2d 110, 125, 57, 571 N.W.2d 686 (Ct. App. 1997). Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's orders suppressing all direct and derivative evidence of Mr. Thatcher's evidentiary breath test and subsequent dismissal of the charge of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration for four reasons.

a. The circuit court granted Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction for the prosecution's failure to reply; however, the State fails to address this ground upon which the circuit court ruled, so it has thus conceded the validity of the circuit court's ruling.

At the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court gave both parties additional time to file written arguments in support of or in opposition to Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress. (R. 59 at 30:15–21.) The State however failed to file a written argument. (R. 20.) The circuit court therefore granted Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction or the prosecution's failure to reply. (R. 30. at 2.)

This Court should conclude that the State has conceded that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it granted Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction for the prosecution's failure to reply. The circuit court clearly identified this ground in its October 1 Decision and Order:

Though perhaps the State provided an explanation for its mistake, it is nevertheless not an excuse. As aptly noted in *Sherman v. Heiser*, 85 Wis.2d 246, 254, 270 N.W.2d 397, 401 (1978), "courts cannot allow litigants to control judicial calendars." Furthermore, *the Court has both statutory and inherent authority "to sanction parties* for failure to prosecute, failure to comply with procedural statutes or rules, and for failure to obey court orders." *Johnson v. Allis Chalmers Corp.*, 162 Wis.2d 261, 273-74, 470 N.W.2d 859 (1991).

(R. 30. at 2) (emphasis added.)

The State's decision to ignore this ground in its appellate brief to this Court is fatal to its appeal; it constitutes a concession that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it granted Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction for the prosecution's failure to reply.

Because this single issue is dispositive, this Court need not consider any of the State's arguments regarding the merits of Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress. *See Turner v. Taylor*, 2003 WI App 256, ¶ 1 n.1, 268 Wis. 2d 628, 673 N.W.2d 716 (court of appeals need not address all issues raised by the parties if one is dispositive); *see also State v. Blalock*, 150 Wis. 2d 688, 703, 442 N.W.2d 514 (Ct. App. 1989) (appellate court should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds).

b. The circuit court acted within the bounds of its discretion in granting Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress as a sanction for the State's failure to brief the issue.

The question of imposition of sanctions is, very simply, a matter of discretion for the circuit court. The erroneous exercise standard of review is highly deferential to the circuit court. *Prince Corp. v. Vandenberg*, 2016 WI 49, ¶ 16, 369 Wis. 2d 387, 882 N.W.2d 371. A circuit court has discretion to impose sanctions and choose which sanctions to impose, including the granting of motions to suppress evidence. *Industrial Roofing Services, Inc. v. Marquardt*, 2007 WI 19, ¶ 41, 299 Wis. 2d 81, 726 N.W.2d 898. If a circuit court has "examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach," then a discretionary decision will be sustained. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Here, the circuit court acted within the bounds of its discretion in granting Mr. Thatcher's suppression motion as a sanction for the prosecution's failure to reply.

This Court should therefore affirm the circuit court's order suppressing all direct and derivative evidence of Mr. Thatcher's evidentiary breath test, as well as its order dismissing the charge of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT **PROPERLY** GRANTED MR. THATCHER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHEN IT MADE FATUAL FINDINGS AND CONCLUDED THAT TROOPER WOOD EXCEEDED HIS DUTY UNDER SEC. 343.305(4) BY PROVIDING EXCESSIVE INFORMATION FOUND NOWHERE IN THE INFORMATING THE ACCUSED FORM AND THIS **INFORMATION ERROENOUS EXTRA** AFFECTED THATCHER'S ABILITY TO DECIDE REGARDING CHEMICAL TESTING.²

In *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*, this Court set forth a three-part test to assess the adequacy of the warning process under the implied consent law:

- (1) Has the law enforcement officer not met, or exceeded his or her duty under secs. 343.305(4) and (4m) to provide information to the accused driver?
- (2) Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading?
- (3) Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make the choice about chemical testing?

198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995), abrogated on other grounds by *In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243 (upholding the *Quelle* framework with respect to "excessive information" cases such as the one at bar). In this case, all factors are present.

Review of an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶ 15, 233 Wis. 2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621.

In reviewing a decision on a motion to suppress, this Court applies a two-part test. First, the Court "review[s] the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and will uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625 (citing *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 27, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568). Second, this Court independently "review[s] the application of constitutional principles to those facts *de novo*." *Id*.

19

.

² Although this Court need not address any of the State's arguments regarding the merits of Mr. Thatcher's motion to suppress or the resulting suppression of both Mr. Thatcher's primary breath test and secondary blood test, Mr. Thatcher does so briefly to fully respond to the State's brief.

a. Trooper Wood exceeded his duty.

The circuit court found as a matter of fact that the record satisfied the first *Quelle* prong. (R. 30 at 2.) Again, a circuit court's factual findings will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Turner*, 186 Wis. 2d 277, 284, 521 N.W.2d 148 (Ct. App. 1994).

This Court should therefore uphold the circuit court's factual determination that Trooper Wood exceeded his duty under sec. 343.305(4) by providing Mr. Thatcher incorrect information found nowhere on the ITAF; that is, that pleading guilty to an OWI-1st offense in Wisconsin is simply a "[t]raffic forfeiture, like a bad *speeding ticket* that nobody wants." (R. 17 at 00:36:19–00:36:27) (emphasis added.) Those words are nowhere to be found on the ITAF. (*See* R. 19.) The government cannot deny this deviation in good faith.

The State invites this Court to reach the novel legal conclusion that Trooper Wood's wrong legal advice is somehow cured by the fact that he did, at one or more points, read the language from the ITAF when he was not providing that additional inaccurate information. (Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant at 7.) At best, one could say that the trooper provided contradictory information, leaving Mr. Thatcher only to guess at the truth.

In short, the State incorrectly argues that simply because Trooper Wood read from the ITAF some other point in time, as opposed to doing so contemporaneously with the misinformation, he met his duty under sec. 343.305(4), and as such, the first *Quelle* prong is not satisfied. This assertion is contrary to established case law, as the first *Quelle* prong is satisfied whenever a law enforcement officer has gone beyond simply reading the ITAF. *Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶ 78 ("*After* discharging his duty under § 343.305(4) by reading the Department of Transportation's Informing the Accused Form verbatim to the defendant, Deputy Sutherland went on to provide additional information to the defendant ... The first prong of the three-prong *Quelle* inquiry is answered in the affirmative." (emphasis added.)).

Therefore, Trooper Wood exceeded his duty under sec. 343.305(4) when he went beyond the mere reading of the ITAF by providing Mr. Thatcher additional and incorrect information about the penalties for a first offense OWI in Wisconsin. For all these reasons, the first *Quelle* prong is satisfied.

b. The additional information was incorrect and misleading.

The circuit court likewise found as a matter of fact that the record satisfied the second *Quelle* prong. (R. 30 at 2); *see Turner*, 186 Wis. 2d at 284 (a circuit court's factual findings will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous)

This Court should therefore uphold the circuit court's factual determination that Trooper Wood misled Mr. Thatcher when he told him that all he would face is a forfeiture or fine by pleading guilty, when in actuality, an individual who pleads guilty to an OWI-1st offense in Wisconsin is not only subject to monetary forfeiture pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes sec. 346.65(2)(am)1, but also revocation of his or her license, disqualification of his or her commercial driver's license, pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes sec. 343.305, as well as a costly and mandatory alcohol and other drug assessment.

The term "misleading" in the second *Quelle* prong was meant by the Wisconsin Court of Appeals to be synonymous with the term "erroneous," and requires no showing of bad faith. *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 875, 569 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1997). These material omissions misstated the legal reality.

While Trooper Wood read the ITAF, he, like the officer in *Ludwigson*, chose to go beyond simply reading the form by giving *additional* information to the accused. *Id.* at 874. After reading the provisions of the ITAF, the officer in *Ludwigson* then exceeded his duty under sec. 343.305(4) and also attempted to explain the form to Ludwigson in "layman's terms." *Id.* But the additional information the officer provided to Ludwigson was wrong. *Id.* at 874 n.1.³ After the

³ The officer told Ludwigson that the normal penalty for refusing to submit to a chemical test is a one-year revocation of driving privileges. This was incorrect as Ludwigson had a prior OWI

_

officer read and explained the form to Ludwigson, she still refused to submit to the test. *Id.* at 874.

Again, any argument by the State that because Trooper Wood read from the ITAF, he stated the truth to Mr. Thatcher because the form recites proper information, and as such, the second *Quelle* prong is not satisfied would be incorrect. This contention ignores the fact that following his reading of the ITAF, Trooper Wood proceeded to supplement the information from the form with his own additional information. However, like the officer in *Ludwigson*, the additional information Trooper Wood provided to Mr. Thatcher was wrong and misleading for the reasons above. *Id.* at 874.

By material omission, Trooper Wood misinformed Mr. Thatcher on the penalties he faced for his first offense in an attempt to get Mr. Thatcher to "consent" to an evidentiary chemical test; therefore, he provided definitionally misleading information. *Id.* at 875. On these facts, the second *Quelle* prong is satisfied. *Id.* ("We hold, as a matter of law, that the police officer exceeded his duty under § 343.305(4), STATS., and the information given to Ludwigson was erroneous, thereby meeting the first two prongs of the *Quelle* test.").

c. The false information affected Mr. Thatcher's ability to make his decision regarding chemical testing.

Finally, this Court should refrain from disturbing the circuit court's factual finding, which was based on its firsthand observations of the testimony, that Trooper's misleading statements affected Mr. Thatcher's decision about chemical testing. *Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶ 85. The trial judge is the "ultimate arbiter of the credibility of a witness." *Posnanski v. City of West Allis*, 61 Wis. 2d 461, 465, 213

conviction and her revocation period would be two years. The officer also told Ludwigson that if she was not satisfied with her initial test, she could request an alternative test at her own expense. This was also incorrect. Under secs. 343.305(2) and (5), law enforcement agencies are required to administer an alternative chemical test at their own expense.

22

_

N.W.2d 51 (1973). Contrary to the State's contention, the circuit court specifically credited Mr. Thatcher's testimony in finding, as a matter of fact, that Trooper Wood's extraneous comments affected Mr. Thatcher's ability to decide about chemical testing. The circuit court credited that testimony in finding, as a matter of fact, that Mr. Thatcher satisfied the third *Quelle* prong. (R. 59 at 20:23–21:1; R. 30 at 2.)

By claiming that a first-offense OWI is just "like bad speeding ticket that nobody wants," Mr. Thatcher confirmed that Trooper Wood effectively downplayed the seriousness of this incident. (*Id.* at 22:3–5.) Further, Mr. Thatcher reiterated that given the position of trust that a law enforcement officer holds in our society and the fact that he was raised to trust the police, he believed Trooper Wood when the trooper claimed that this was nothing more than "a bad speeding ticket." (Id. at 29:8– 14.)

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